FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/30/2021 2:18 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99609-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOSE DIAZ,

Petitioner,

v.

NORTH STAR TRUSTEE and U.S. ROF II; and all other persons unknown claiming any right, title, estate, lien or interest in the real estate described in the complaint herein,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ATTORNEY AT LAW SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Russell M. Odell WSBA No. 31287 By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

251 153rd Place SE Bellevue, WA 98007 5236

(425) 653-3693

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioner

A. Identity of Petitioner.

The petitioner is Jose Diaz, appellant in the Court of Appeals.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' February 16, 2021, decision affirming the trial court's order that Mr. Diaz's interest in a condominium purchased at a sheriff's sale was junior to a mortgage because, years before the sheriff's sale, the lender executed an unrecorded agreement purporting to subordinate the lien of the foreclosing condominium association under RCW 64.34.364. *Diaz v. North Star Trustee, LLC,* 16 Wn. App.2d 341, 481 P.3d 557 (2021) (App. A). The Court of Appeals denied petitioner's timely motion for reconsideration (App. B), and this Court granted petitioner an extension of time to file this petition until April 30, 2021. (App. C)

C. Issues Presented for Review.

1. RCW 64.34.364(3) grants condominium associations a lien that is senior to mortgages "to the extent of assessments for common expenses . . . which would have become due during *the six months immediately preceding* the date of a sheriff's sale." RCW 64.34.364(3) (emphasis added). Does a lender's payment of six months of assessments three years before a sheriff's sale of a condominium subordinate the association's lien in perpetuity?

2. Does an unrecorded order agreed to by a condominium association and a lender purporting to subordinate the association's lien under RCW 64.34.364(3) give a purchaser at a sheriff's sale three years later constructive notice the foreclosing association's lien has been subordinated to the lender's mortgage?

D. Statement of the Case.

In May 2007, Tatyana Jenson purchased a condominium in Seattle, borrowing \$132,000 and signing a promissory note and deed of trust. (CP 65-88) The deed of trust listed as beneficiary Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (MERS), as nominee for Pierce Commercial Bank. (CP 69-71) Ms. Jensen stopped paying her mortgage in 2010. (CP 59) Her deed of trust was assigned to Bank of America (BOA) in 2011. (CP 227)

Ms. Jensen's condominium is a part of the Roseberg Condominium Association (the Association). (CP 69) Ms. Jensen also stopped paying the Association's assessments in 2010, prompting the Association to file a judicial foreclosure against her in May 2012, including BOA and MERS as defendants. (CP 481) On September 4, 2012, the court presiding over the Association's suit (the Roseberg court) entered a default order against BOA and MERS after they failed to appear. (CP 9-11) The Roseberg court also

entered a decree of foreclosure, declaring that any lien held by BOA and MERS was "inferior and subordinate to the plaintiff's lien and ... forever foreclosed." (CP 12-13)

On January 11, 2013, the Association agreed to entry of an order stating BOA had paid "the super priority lien amount of \$1,164.00 ... as contemplated under RCW 64.34.364(3)" (representing six months of assessments) and that the payment "reestablishe[d] the above-referenced Deed of Trust as a lien fully senior to the lien being foreclosed by Plaintiff." (CP 318-20) The order also dismissed BOA and MERS from the foreclosure action with prejudice. (CP 319) Neither the Association nor BOA recorded this stipulated order with the King County Recorder's Office.

The Roseberg court then entered a default judgment and foreclosure decree ordering that "the rights of all defendants, including mortgage lenders, be adjudged inferior and subordinate to the plaintiff's lien and be forever foreclosed except only for the statutory right of redemption allowed by law." (CP 235) Although the default judgment stated a "Stipulation and Agreed Order of Dismissal of defendants" BOA and MERS "was entered with the court" on January 11, 2013, it did not specify the terms of that order, including the basis for dismissing BOA and MERS. (CP 234) The

Association recorded the January 29, 2013 default judgment and foreclosure decree on February 28, 2013. (CP 232) The Roseberg court ordered the sale of the property and on January 15, 2016, Mr. Diaz, the highest bidder at a sheriff's sale, purchased the property for \$17,571.26—\$1 more than the assessments then due. (CP 46, 958)

BOA had assigned any beneficial interest secured by the deed of trust to PROF-2014-S2 Legal Title Trust (PROF) in November 2015. (CP 1613-14) PROF did not redeem the property within one year, as authorized by RCW 6.23.020(1). In March 2017, PROF assigned any beneficial interest secured by the deed of trust to U.S. ROF II Legal Title Trust 2015-1 (U.S. ROF), which appointed North Star Trustee, LLC, as successor trustee. (CP 109, 764)

At no point during the eight years following Ms. Jensen's default did Pierce Commercial Bank or any of its successors foreclose on the deed of trust. (CP 59) When U.S. ROF purchased the note, Ms. Jensen had been in default for seven years. (CP 229)

North Star sent Mr. Diaz a "Notice of Default" on August 9, 2017, demanding he pay all arrears on Ms. Jensen's note and late fees, costs of enforcement, and interest, a total of \$68,998.51. (CP 114-19, 735) North Star then scheduled a nonjudicial foreclosure sale for March 30, 2018. (CP 121-22)

On March 5, 2018, Mr. Diaz filed a complaint against U.S. ROF and North Star seeking to quiet title and enjoin the foreclosure. (CP 1-7) The trial court initially ruled that Mr. Diaz had superior title. (CP 166-67) Almost a year later, on May 15, 2019, the Association and U.S. ROF jointly asked the Roseberg court to vacate the September 4, 2012 default order against BOA and MERS, asserting the failure to vacate the default order was "excusable neglect" under CR 60(b)(1). (CP 448-51) Despite the one-year time limit for relief under CR 60(b)(1), the Roseberg court granted the motion and—almost seven years after it was entered—vacated the September 2012 default order nunc pro tunc as of January 11, 2013. (CP 472-74)

U.S. ROF and North Star then moved to vacate the partial summary judgment in favor of Mr. Diaz in this action, arguing that the Roseberg court's order constituted "newly discovered evidence" under CR 60(b)(3).¹ (CP 359-90) The trial court denied the motion (CP 552-56), concluding the nunc pro tunc order did not change what Mr. Diaz knew or should have known when he purchased the condominium because he "could not have anticipated that more than three years after his purchase the September 4, 2012 default order against the

¹ Given it was entered nunc pro tunc almost seven years later, the Roseberg court's order might more accurately be characterized as "newly manufactured evidence."

Bank in the Roseberg case would be vacated." (CP 553) The trial court further found that the January 11 Order reestablishing BOA's senior lien rights was "never filed with the King County Recorder's Office and Mr. Diaz was unaware of the order when he purchased the property," and that Mr. Diaz had no affirmative duty to search the Roseberg court record for the January 11 order or to contact the Association to inquire about potential liens. (CP 554-55)

After U.S. ROF and North Star's first motion for reconsideration was denied (CP 1670), they filed a second motion claiming an April 2019 unpublished decision involved "identical facts." (CP 1680-89 (citing *Diaz v. Hsueh*, No. 77771-8-I, 2019 WL 1781098, *rev. denied*, 194 Wn.2d 1003 (2019), discussed *infra* at 19 n.3)) The trial court dismissed Mr. Diaz's claims with prejudice. (CP 738-41)

Division One affirmed in a published decision. (App. A) The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Diaz's argument the Association's lien had priority under RCW 64.34.364 and thus the mortgage lien was extinguished when the Association foreclosed its lien, holding that because BOA paid six months of assessments in 2013 the mortgage lien was senior to the Association's lien when the condominium was sold at the 2016 sheriff's sale. 16 Wn. App.2d at 350-55, ¶¶ 18-28. The

Court of Appeals ruled Mr. Diaz was not a bona fide purchaser because "[t]he information in the July 29 [sic] Judgment was sufficient to trigger a duty to make further inquiry into the possible existence of a mortgage." 16 Wn. App.2d at 358, ¶ 39.2

E. Argument Why This Court Should Grant Review.

1. The Association's lien had priority under RCW 64.34.364 and its foreclosure extinguished the deed of trust.

The Court of Appeals held that U.S. ROF—which purchased debt that had been in default for seven years—holds a superior interest to Mr. Diaz because its predecessor in interest paid six months of assessments three years before Mr. Diaz purchased the property. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's precedent and the plain language of RCW 64.34.364, undermining the important public policy the statute is intended to serve by encouraging lenders to timely enforce their rights instead of forcing associations and unit owners to bear the burden of preserving their collateral. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

² The Court of Appeals also affirmed the dismissal of Mr. Diaz's claims under the Consumer Protection Act (CPA) and its refusal to award U.S. ROF and North Star attorney's fees under CR 11 and RCW 4.84.185. 16 Wn. App.2d at 360-63, ¶¶ 46-56. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, Mr. Diaz's first CPA claim turns on whether "U.S. ROF had a legal right to commence a nonjudicial foreclosure." 16 Wn. App.2d at 360, ¶ 48. Mr. Diaz reserves the right to reassert this claim on remand should he prevail in this Court.

RCW 64.34.364 is part of the Washington Condominium Act (WCA), modeled on the Uniform Condominium Act (UCA). RCW 64.34.950. RCW 64.34.364(1) creates on behalf of condominium associations "a lien on a unit for any unpaid assessments levied against a unit from the time the assessment is due." RCW 64.34.364(2) then provides that this lien is, with certain exceptions, "prior to all other liens and encumbrances on a unit." One of those exceptions is for "a mortgage on the unit recorded before the date on which the assessment sought to be enforced became delinquent." RCW 64.34.364(2)(b). RCW 64.34.364(3) then creates an exception to this exception, giving an association's lien priority over all mortgages for unpaid assessments "which would have become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of a sheriff's sale in an action for judicial foreclosure":

[T]he lien shall also be prior to the mortgages described in subsection (2)(b) of this section to the extent of assessments for common expenses, excluding any amounts for capital improvements, based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to RCW 64.34.360(1) which would have become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of a sheriff's sale in an action for judicial foreclosure by either the association or a mortgagee, the date of a trustee's sale in a nonjudicial foreclosure by a mortgagee, or the date of recording of the declaration of forfeiture in a proceeding by the vendor under a real estate contract.

"In other words, the statute first alters the typical priorities, but then a condominium association regains its priority to collect six months' worth of unpaid assessments." *BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Fulbright*, 180 Wn.2d 754, 764, ¶ 15, 328 P.3d 895 (2014). As with any lien, if a lien for six months of assessments—often dubbed a "superpriority" lien—is foreclosed, it extinguishes all junior liens. BAC Home Loans, 180 Wn.2d at 765, ¶ 17.

a. The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with the clear language of RCW 64.34.364 and this Court's precedent.

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that BOA subordinated the Association's superpriority lien because it "paid the six months of assessments in January 2013." 16 Wn. App.2d at 354, ¶ 27. RCW 64.34.364(3) does not permit a lender to pay *any* six months of assessments and thereby preserve—in perpetuity—the seniority of its lien. Rather, the statute specifies that an association's lien is senior to mortgages "to the extent of assessments for common expenses . . . which would have become due during the six months **immediately preceding** the date of a sheriff's sale." RCW 64.34.364(3) (emphasis added). The Legislature thus intended that an association's superpriority lien would always cover the most recent six months of assessments before sale.

The legislative history of RCW 64.34.364 confirms this intent. After enacting RCW 64.34.364 in 1989, the Legislature amended the statute a year later to specify that the six months of assessments covered by the superpriority lien are those immediately preceding a foreclosure sale, instead of the six months immediately preceding "institution of an action to enforce the lien":

... the lien shall also be prior to the mortgages described in <u>subsection (2)(b)</u> of this ((subsection)) <u>section</u> to the extent of assessments for common expenses, excluding any amounts for capital improvements, based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to RCW 64.34.360(1) which would have become due ((in the absence of acceleration,)) during the six months immediately preceding ((institution of an action to enforce the lien: PROVIDED That the)) the date of a sheriff's sale in an action for judicial foreclosure....

Laws of 1990, ch 166, § 6 (underlining and deletions in original). The Legislature thus *rejected* language that would have "reprioritized" the liens "at the moment the condominium association filed its foreclosure lawsuit," contrary to the Court of Appeals' reasoning. 16 Wn. App.2d at 354, ¶ 27. The Senate Journal confirms that the superpriority lien "dates back from the time of the foreclosure sale," not the filing of the foreclosure lawsuit. 2 SENATE JOURNAL, 51st Leg., Reg., 1st & 2nd Spec. Sess., at 2080 (1990).

The Court of Appeals reasoned RCW 64.34.364(3) allows a lender to pay *any* six months of assessments because it does not

"mandate when the sum must be paid by a mortgage lender to retain its senior lien status." 16 Wn. App.2d at 352-53, ¶ 23. But BOA's payment was ineffective because of *what* it paid, not because of *when* it was paid—BOA did not pay assessments for the "six months immediately preceding the . . . sheriff's sale," RCW 64.34.364(3), but instead paid six months of assessments *three years* before the property was sold. As the Court of Appeals itself recognized—but then ignored—RCW 64.34.364(3) "describes which six-month period is covered by the super priority lien." 16 Wn. App.2d at 352, ¶ 23.

The Court of Appeals' published decision misreads and conflicts with this Court's decision in *BAC Home Loans*. The Court of Appeals reasoned that "[u]nder *BAC Home Loans*, the Association's super priority lien *existed* by the time Bank of America paid the six months of assessments," and thus BOA could pay any six months of assessments to subordinate the superpriority lien. 16 Wn. App.2d at 354, ¶ 27 (emphasis added). But this Court rejected that reasoning in *BAC Home Loans*, explaining "it is not relevant which lien arises first, but which lien has statutory priority and can subordinate, under certain circumstances, other liens." 180 Wn.2d at 765, ¶ 18.

Under RCW 64.34.364(3), an Association's lien subordinates a prior mortgage only when there is a sheriff's or trustee's sale

scheduled, or a declaration of forfeiture by the vendor of a real estate contract. Absent these circumstances, there is no way to determine the assessments for "the six months immediately preceding" the relevant date that have regained priority under RCW 64.34.364(3). When BOA purported to subordinate the Association's lien, in perpetuity, in 2013, there was nothing to subordinate, because no sheriff's sale had been scheduled. BOA's payment was "a voluntary business decision which was not compelled to make to protect its lien priority." Report of the Joint Editorial Bd. for Unif. Real Prop. Acts, *The Six-Month "Limited Priority Lien' for Association Fees Under the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act*, at 14-15 (2013) (JEB Report), available at https://perma.cc/LEV9-PZSL.3

b. The Court of Appeals' published decision undercuts RCW 64.34.364, which is intended to prevent dilatory tactics by lenders and their successors.

The Court of Appeals' published decision undermines the public policy effected by giving associations superpriority liens, which is to discourage lenders from sleeping on their rights while associations and other unit owners bear the burden of a delinquent

12

³ The Joint Editorial Board for Uniform Real Property Acts provides guidance to the Uniform Law Commission regarding potential subjects for uniform laws relating to real estate. JEB Report at 1.

owner's unpaid assessments. By keying the superpriority lien to the sale or forfeiture of property—and not just the filing of an action—the Legislature sought to ensure property is actually sold to a responsible owner, thus minimizing the time assessments go unpaid. Moreover, by specifying that the superpriority lien covers the most recent six months of assessments under an association's "periodic budget," RCW 64.34.364(3), the Legislature ensured that if, as is often the case, assessments must be raised to cover shortfalls caused by delinquent owners, lenders pay those increased assessments.

As the comments to the most recent version of the UCA explain, the superpriority lien "was premised on the assumption that, if an association took action to enforce its lien and the unit owner failed to cure its assessment default, the first mortgage lender *would promptly institute foreclosure proceedings* and pay the unpaid assessments (up to six months' worth) to the association." UCA (2017) § 3-116 comment 2 (emphasis added). RCW 64.34.364(3) thus was intended to ensure that a lender will pay six months of assessments *and* promptly foreclose its lien, so it could "deliver clear title in its foreclosure sale," "minimizing the period during which unpaid assessments would accrue for which the association would not have first priority." UCA (2017) § 3-116 comment 2.

Far from encouraging prompt resolution of defaults, the Court of Appeals' published decision encourages lenders and their successors to gauge the fortunes of the real estate market while letting condominiums languish; the longer a lender delays foreclosure, the longer it "receives a benefit in that the value of its collateral is preserved." UCA (2017) § 3-116 comment 2. This is especially unjust because "the association (and the remaining unit owners) bear the full financial consequences of" the lender's delay; "the association must either force the remaining owners to bear increased assessments to meet budgeted expenses or reduce expenditures for (or the level of) condominium maintenance, insurance and services." UCA (2017) § 3-116 comment 2.

The inequity of allowing lenders to profit from delay is fully seen here. A junk debt purchaser foreclosed seven years after the debtor defaulted, while the original lender and its assignees did *nothing* to enforce their rights, including failing to bid their credit at the sheriff's sale or redeem the property from Mr. Diaz. In contrast, Mr. Diaz paid *all* past due assessments and has renovated the property and paid taxes and assessments. (CP 196, 729-30)

The Court of Appeals' published decision also undermines RCW 64.34.030, which provides that the WCA "may not be varied by

agreement, and rights conferred by this chapter may not be waived." Yet that is precisely what the Court of Appeals permitted here—if a lender and association can arbitrarily decide that payment of *any* six months of assessments is sufficient to subordinate the association's superpriority lien in perpetuity, then there is nothing to stop mortgage holders from pressuring associations to make further "agreements" regarding their liens, contrary to the express purpose of RCW 64.34.364. *See Liu v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n*, 179 A.3d 871, 878-79 (D.C. 2018) (association's agreement to subordinate its superpriority lien violated statute paralleling RCW 64.34.030 because the statute "effectively shields condominium associations from pressure by lenders to require foreclosure-sale purchasers to agree that the property is subject to the first mortgage, a term that could reduce the number of interested bidders and impair the condominium association's ability to recover unpaid assessments.").

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

2. The Court of Appeals' notion of "inquiry notice" conflicts with over a century of Washington precedent and undermines the policies of the Recording Act.

The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with Washington precedent governing constructive notice, RAP 13.4(b)(1), eviscerating the Recording Act, RCW ch. 65.08, and the right of

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