FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/1/2021 3:45 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99609-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## JOSE DIAZ,

Petitioner,

v.

NORTH STAR TRUSTEE and U.S. ROF II; and all other persons unknown claiming any right, title, estate, lien or interest in the real estate described in the complaint herein,

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tom B. Pierce, WSBA #26730 Scott D. Crawford, WSBA #34978 Attorneys for Respondents North Star Trustee, LLC and U.S. ROF II

ZBS LAW, LLP 11335 NE 122<sup>nd</sup>, Suite 105 Kirkland, WA 98034 (206) 209-0375

#

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

### RAP 13.4(b).

In the present case, the Petitioners fail to offer any argument or explanation why the Court of Appeals' decision (1) conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) is a significant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Appellant attempts to frame his version of the interpretation of the super priority lien statutes as a matter of substantial public interest. This argument ignores the reality that, in this case, the issue of whether the six months of assessments were paid to satisfy the super priority lien contemplated by RCW 64.34.364(3) had been decided and incorporated into a valid and final order that Mr. Diaz either ignored, neglected or refused to understand. The petition for review attempts to portray Diaz as an "innocent purchaser", when the record establishes that Diaz was an "informed purchaser" who failed to do the necessary due diligence required of an investor electing to participate in the high-risk field of foreclosure auction bidding.

Mr. Diaz fails to provide any legal support to his ongoing claim that BOA's payment of the six month super priority" lien has to be timed perfectly before an unknown or unscheduled Sheriff's sale. This is neither feasible, logical nor necessary given BOA paid the six month condo assessment lien and entered into a Stipulation and Dismissal.

The statute that establishes the super priority lien, RCW 64.34.364, does not provide such ongoing obligation and no case law supports Mr. Diaz's frivolous claim. Instead, Mr. Diaz asks the court to write its own policy to mandate when six months of assessments should be paid and for how long. Mr. Diaz further asks the court to intervene and

pen a decision that would essentially vacate every possible stipulation and agreed order to dismiss which involved payment of six months of assessments by lenders, as requested, required and accepted by condominium associations and entered by our courts.

1. The Court of Appeals' published decision does not conflict with the clear language of RCW 64.34.364 or with any Courts' precedent.

RCW 64.34.364 balances the competing interests of mortgage lenders versus condominium associations by giving a limited priority to association liens for delinquent assessments over the lien of a prior recorded mortgage. This limited priority ("super priority lien") is limited to or capped at six months of assessments.

#### RCW 64.34.364 provides in relevant part:

(3) Except as provided in subsections (4) and (5) of this section, the lien shall also be prior to the mortgages described in subsection (2)(b) of this section to the extent of assessments for common expenses, excluding any amounts for capital improvements, based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to RCW 64.34.360(1) which would have become due during the six months immediately preceding the date of a sheriff's sale in an action for judicial foreclosure by either the association or a mortgagee, the date of a trustee's sale in a nonjudicial foreclosure by a mortgagee, or the date of recording of the declaration of forfeiture in a proceeding by the vendor under a real estate contract.

The Stipulation and Dismissal tracks exactly how this statutory scheme works in practice. That January 11, 2013 Stipulation and Dismissal established the following: (1) Payment by BOA satisfied the super priority lien contemplated by RCW 64.34.364(3); (2) The BOA

payment "reestablished as fully senior" the Jensen Deed of Trust to the lien of the Roseberg COA; and (3) BOA was dismissed from the Condo Lawsuit with prejudice.

Diaz mistakenly contends the Stipulated Order and decision from the Court of Appeals was in contravention of binding case law, citing *BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Fulbright*, 180 Wn. 2d 754, 328 P.3rd 895 (2014). That contention is simply wrong. Unlike BOA, who in this case took affirmative steps to protect its interests pre-judgment, the senior lien lender in the *BAC Home Loans* case did not and the case is readily distinguishable.

Consistent with the statute's intent, BOA's payment of the six months super priority lien was not paid prior to the "institution of an action to enforce the lien" but paid after the Condo filed its foreclosure action and before the possible foreclosure sale. The statute does not require that the six months of payments *must* be paid on the eve of an indeterminate Sheriff's sale. Likewise, the statute does not require ongoing and unlimited assessment payments until a foreclosure sale is scheduled, especially when the lender is dismissed with prejudice from the foreclosure action.

This outcome was contemplated by the legislature. The official comments to RCW 64.34.364(3) reveal the balance between the need to enforce collection of unpaid assessments and the importance of protecting mortgage lenders' security interests:

3. The association's priority under subsection (3) is usually for a sum equal to the assessments which normally have come due in the six month prior to the foreclosure of either a mortgage or the lien for assessments. The period dates back from the time of the foreclosure sale, or the recordation of the declaration of forfeiture. A significant departure from existing practice, the priority for the assessment lien strikes an equitable balance between the need to enforce collection of unpaid assessments and the obvious necessity for protecting the priority of the security interests of mortgage lenders. As a practical matter, mortgage lenders will most likely pay the assessments demanded by the association which are prior to its mortgage rather than having the association foreclose on the unit and eliminate the lender's mortgage lien.

See 2 Senate Journal, 51st Leg. Reg. Sess., App A at 2080 (Wash. 1990)(emphasis added).

The legislature's expected outcome is for mortgage lenders to pay the six months of assessments demanded by the association and for the association to remove the super priority lien.

In our case, contrary to Mr. Diaz's claim, BOA did not arbitrarily pay "any six months of assessments," but paid the specific amount requested by Roseberg COA and paid it when it was requested by Roseberg COA, as evidenced by their Stipulation and Dismissal.

The statute contemplates assessments due are based on a budget adopted by the association. The "which would have been due" language clearly contemplates payment in advance. Foreclosure sales are fluid events and can be moving targets. What if a senior lien lender paid the six months of assessments within the six months prior to a scheduled foreclosure sale and then that sale was continued or delayed for some reason? Diaz would argue that they would have to pay it again. That is

clearly not what the statute reads or requires, and the argument defies common sense. And most importantly, it flies in the face of the express language in the Stipulation and Dismissal which provided in the clearest of terms that BOA paid the super priority lien in full to earn its dismissal with prejudice from the Roseberg COA's assessment lien foreclosure action.

2. The Court of Appeals' published decision does not diminish a condominium association's authority expressly conferred by RCW 64.34.364 to collect delinquent assessments or otherwise impact any public policy intended by Washington Legislature.

Mr. Diaz's reliance on comments to the Uniform Condominium Act ("UCA") and concerns for associations and other unit owners bearing the burden of delinquent assessments were not concerns raised by our own legislators when enacting RCW 64.34.264. When assessment fees remain delinquent, condominium associations are not powerless but are equipped by this state's legislature to engage in their own self-help measures. The legislature supplemented the UCA super priority lien portion of the statute and added protections for associations to collect delinquent assessments. Specifically, RCW 64.34.364(9), provides in part:

...The association or its authorized representative shall have the power, unless prohibited by the declaration, to purchase the unit at the foreclosure sale and to acquire, hold, lease, mortgage, or convey the same.... (Emphasis added).

Further, an association may take possession of and rent out a unit to capture rent and delinquent assessments during an action to foreclose a lien. RCW 64.34.364(10), provides:

. . . From the time of commencement of an action by the association to foreclose a lien for nonpayment of delinquent assessments against a unit that is not occupied by the owner thereof, the association shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver to collect from the lessee thereof the rent for the unit as and when due. If the rental is not paid, the receiver may obtain possession of the unit, refurbish it for rental up to a reasonable standard for rental units in this type of condominium, rent the unit or permit its rental to others, and apply the rents first to the cost of the receivership and attorneys' fees thereof, then to the cost of refurbishing the unit, then to applicable charges, then to costs, fees, and charges of the foreclosure action, and then to the payment of the delinquent assessments. . . . (Emphasis added).

Indeed, legislators' comments to RCW 34.64.364(10), (12) and (16) buttresses the intent of the statute to give associations multiple avenues to collect delinquent assessment fees and not rely on a mortgage lender to proceed with their own foreclosure.

- 11. Under subsection (10) the right to the appointment of a receiver to rent out a unit is automatically available to an association once a foreclosure has been commenced even if the declaration does not expressly provide for this remedy. . . .
- 12. Subsections (12) and (16) make clear that the association may have remedies short of foreclosure of its lien that can be used to collect unpaid assessments. The association, for example, might bring an action in debt or breach of contract against a recalcitrant owner rather than resorting to foreclosure.

*See* 2 Senate Journal, 51st Leg., Reg. Sess., App. A at 2081 (Wash. 1990)(emphasis added).

Consistent with Washington legislature's intent under RCW 64.34.364, Ms. Army, attorney for the Roseberg COA, stated in their response to Mr. Diaz's motion to intervene and for sanctions, that several options existed: "Our office initially suggested garnishment as an option to collect on the judgment given the lender had appeared in the lawsuit."

CP 1,562-64. Further, in her declaration and as supported by her email exhibits confirming the same, Ms. Army stated:

After obtaining a default judgment against Defendant Jensen, I informed the Association of its collection options. Initially, I did not recommend a sheriff's sale as I noted that the lender appeared in the lawsuit and paid the super lien priority amount.

Our office was unable to locate Defendant Jensen believing she may have been currently residing in Russia. We then notified the Association that a sheriff sale would be an option to collect the delinquent dues if only to lease out the unit until the lender eventually foreclosed. CP 1584-88.

Mr. Diaz's public policy argument neglects relevant portions of RCW 64.34.364 that provide an association with alternative means to collect delinquent assessments. Similarly, Mr. Diaz's reliance on selective comments to the UCA are inapplicable to our own statute which affords proactive steps by an association. Contrary to the UCA, a condominium association in Washington does not have to rely on a lender's foreclosure to collect delinquent assessments.

3. Mr. Diaz attempts to rewrite established law by falsely claiming he is a Bona Fide Purchaser, and he continues to ignore the plain and express Stipulation and Dismissal in the Condo Lawsuit by falsely claiming it requires recording.

Mr. Diaz is not a bona fide purchaser. The bona fide purchaser doctrine ("BFP") exists to benefit a good faith purchaser, who is without actual or constructive notice of another's interest in the real property, be granted superior interest in the property. *Levien v. Fiala*, 79 Wn.App. 294, 298, 902 P.2d 170 (1995). However, if the purchaser has knowledge or

information that would cause an ordinarily prudent person to inquire further, and if such inquiry, reasonably pursued would lead to the discovery of title defects or of equitable rights of others regarding the property, then the purchaser has constructive knowledge of everything the inquiry would have revealed. *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Services of Washington, Inc.* 174 Wn.2d 560, 573, 276 P.3rd 1277 (2012). All that is required to trigger the duty of inquiry is "information ... which would excite apprehension in an ordinary mind and prompt a person of average prudence to make inquiry." *Paganelli v. Swendsen,* 50 Wn.2d 304, 308, 311 P.2d 676 (1957) (*quoting Daly v. Rizzutto,* 59 Wash. 62, 65, 109 P. 276 (1910)).

Mr. Diaz perplexingly wants the Court to adopt the reasoning that he was permitted to cherry-pick his diligence by ignoring the January 11, 2013 Stipulation and Dismissal.

Mr. Diaz relies on the language of the January 29, 2013 Default Judgment: "the rights of all defendants, *including mortgage lenders*" were "inferior and subordinate to the plaintiff's lien and . . . *forever foreclosed*." (CP 235 (emphasis added)), Appellant's Petition for Review, page 17. Yet, he ignores the Default Judgment's specific reference to the January 11, 2013 Stipulation and Dismissal of BOA.

Because BOA was not a defendant when the January 29, 2013 Default Judgment was entered, its interest was not foreclosed or extinguished, per *Worden v. Smith*, *supra*.

The January 29, 2013 Default Judgment's specific reference to the January 11, 2013 Stipulation and Dismissal of BOA provides Mr. Diaz with at least constructive notice and a duty of inquiry because the court order which he relies on need only provide "notice of what a reasonable inquiry would reveal." Likewise, an ordinarily prudent person would inquire further. Mr. Diaz either did not engage in a "reasonable inquiry" or mistakenly made his "reasonable inquiry" after his purchase at the foreclosure sale rather than before. That surely is not consistent with what an ordinarily prudent person would do before bidding \$17,571.26 on property at a Sheriff's auction.

Mr. Diaz is bound by the same current and existing legal authority, and he has a duty to conduct a "reasonable inquiry" prior to his purchase of subject condominium at the Sheriff's sale. Mr. Diaz had "information" which would "prompt a person of average prudence to make an inquiry." That reasonable inquiry could have been a simple question to the Sheriff conducting the sale or it could have been a simple email sent to the Roseberg COA. Mr. Diaz obviously knew a super priority lien had to be paid because he sent such an email to Ms. Patricia Army, attorney for Roseberg COA, two days after the auction. CP 1588. Ms. Army confirmed to Diaz that the Bank paid the "Priority Fees" prior to Mr. Diaz's purchase and emailed him a copy of the Stipulation and Dismissal. For Mr. Diaz, "presale diligence does not mean it can turn a blind eye to the circumstance" that existed prior to the Sheriff' sale.

To excuse his own inaction Diaz also argues that the satisfaction of the super priority lien somehow required recording. This argument is without merit and unsupported by any legal authority. The undisputed facts show that the six months of assessments were paid. A "lien" is an encumbrance upon property as security for the payment of a debt. *Sullins v. Sullins*, 65 Wn.2d 283 (1964). Here, the debt was paid and there was nothing to be secured or capable of conveyance and there was no need to record the Stipulation and Dismissal. Roseberg COA's delinquent assessments, save for the six months of payments, were still unpaid and the foreclosure continued through the eventual Sheriff's sale. This was made clear in the Stipulation and Dismissal of which Diaz should have recognized and he is charged with constructive knowledge of its being.

Though the September 4, 2012 Default Order was vacated by agreed order in May 2019, it was entirely inconsequential to Diaz's interest. Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals relied on the agreed order to vacate because it was rendered moot by the January 11, 2013 Stipulation and Dismissal. Indeed, when presented with the vacated default order, the trial court denied U.S. ROF's request for vacating Mr. Diaz's partial summary judgment.

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